State of Indiana
Lake County Court

Jeff Nicholson, Douglas Grimes, Greg
Serbon, and Cheree Calabro,
Plaintiffs
V.

City of Gary, Indiana; City of Gary Com-
mon Council; Herbert Smith, Jr., Rebecca
L. Wyatt, Michael L. Protho, Mary Brown, Civil Case No.
Carolyn D. Rogers, Linda Barnes Cald-
well, LaVetta Sparks-Wade, Ronald Brew-
er, and Ragen Hatcher, in their official ca-
pacities as City of Gary Common Council
Members; and Karen Freeman-Wilson, in
her official capacity as City of Gary Mayor,
Defendants

Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief

Plaintiffs complain as follows:

1. This an “action to compel ... governmental bod[ies] ... to comply with” Indiana’s sanctuary-
city-preemption law, IC 5-2-18.2 (“Chapter 18.2”), as authorized by IC 5-2-18.2-5."

2. Chapter 18.2, titled “Citizenship and Immigration Status Information and Enforcement of
Federal Immigration Laws,” bans what are commonly called sanctuary-city or welcoming-city
ordinances.

3. Chapter 18.2 preempts local regulation of the immigration-law field by

(1)  prohibiting Indiana “governmental bodies” from adopting non-cooperation policies re-

'The text of IC 5-2-18.2-5 follows:

IC 5-2-18.2-5 Action to compel

Sec. 5. If a governmental body ... violates this chapter, a person lawfully domiciled
in Indiana may bring an action to compel the governmental body ... to comply with
this chapter.
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garding immigration-law information and enforcement, IC 5-2-18.2-3 and -4, and im-
posing on law-enforcement officers (“LEOs”) “a duty to cooperate with state and fed-
eral officials on matters pertaining to enforcement of state and federal laws governing
immigration,” IC 5-2-18.2-7, all to the “full extent permitted by federal law,” IC 5-2-
18.2-4;

(1) authorizing an “action to compel ... compl[iance]” by “a person lawfully domiciled in
Indiana,” IC 5-2-18.2-5; and

(iii) requiring an injunction against violations of Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.2

4. Plaintiffs seek to compel the “governmental bodies” that enacted City of Gary (Indiana)

Ordinance 9100 (“Ordinance”), “An Ordinance Establishing the City of Gary Indiana as a Wel

coming City,”* to comply with Indiana’s Chapter 18.2. Among other things, the Ordinance un-
lawfully restricts cooperation with federal immigration-enforcement authorities to “less than the
full extent permitted by federal law.” IC 5-2-18.2-4.

Jurisdiction, Venue, and Standing

5. This Court has jurisdiction under IC 5-2-18.2-5 and -6, as well as IC 33-29-1-1.5 (provid-
ing superior-court jurisdiction) or IC 33-28-1-2 (providing circuit-court jurisdiction).
6. Venue is proper under Ind. T.R. 75(A)(4), (5), and (10).

7. Plaintiffs have standing under both IC 5-2-18.2-5 and public-standing doctrine, See State ex

’The text of IC 5-2-18.2-6 follows:

IC 5-2-18.2-6 Enjoin violation

Sec. 6. If a court finds that a governmental body or postsecondary educational insti-
tution knowingly or intentionally violated section 3 or 4 of this chapter, the court shall
enjoin the violation.

? See Appendix A (Ordinance as passed). According its preamble, the Ordinance is to be codi-
fied as “a new Article I, Section 26 [o]f the City of Gary City Ordinances” at § 26-51 et seq.
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rel. Cittadinev. Ind. DOT, 790 N.E.2d 978, 980-982 (Ind. 2003) (public-standing doctrine ap-
plies where “object of the mandate is to procure enforcement of a public duty”).

8. Plaintiffs have statutory standing because each is a “a person lawfully domiciled in Indiana
[and so] may bring an action to compel the governmental body ... to comply with [Chapter
18.2].” IC 5-2-18.2-5. Seeinfraq I n.1. The Indiana General Assembly has authority to create
such jurisdiction and the standing that is part of jurisdiction. See, e.g., Cittadine, 790 N.E.2d at
983-84 (recognizing authority of legislature in Declaratory Judgment Act to provide jurisdiction
for declaratory judgments and to establish standing requirements therefor, IC 34-1-1 and -2).
See also Huffman v. Ind. Office Envtl. Adjudication, 811 N.E.2d 806, 809 (Ind. 2004) (recogniz-
ing legislature’s authority to establish court jurisdiction and standing requirements other than the
“judicial doctrine of standing”).

9. The statutory standing established by Chapter 18.2 is consistent with Indiana’s public-
standing doctrine, see Cittadine, 790 N.E.2d 978 (reaffirming doctrine), under which Plaintiffs
also have standing because they are citizens of Indiana and (three are) citizens of Lake County
who assert a public right under a public duty of compliance with Chapter 18.2, which public
right and public duty are expressly established by Chapter 18.2. Thus, they have an interest “as
citizens ‘interested in common with other citizens in the execution of the law,”” Cittadine, 790
N.E.2d at 980-81 (citation omitted), including laws consistent with Chapter 18.2. They also share
a public interest in public safety that flows from enforcement of the laws. Seeid. at 984-85 (as “a
member of the motoring public,” Jack Cittadine had standing under the public-standing doctrine
to challenge noncompliance with a law promoting public safety by mandating visibility stan-

dards at railroad crossings).

Verified Complaint 3



Parties

10. Plaintiff Jeff Nicholson both lives and works in City of Gary, Indiana, and so is “a person
lawfully domiciled in Indiana,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and a “citizen” of Indiana, Lake County, and City
of Gary, Cittadine, 790 N.E.2d at 980-81, thereby making Plaintiff authorized to bring this “ac-
tion to compel,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and giving Plaintiff public interests in the performance of public
duties required by Chapter 18.2, including interests in enforcement of the law and public safety.

11. Plaintiff Douglas Grimes both lives and works in City of Gary, Indiana, and so is “a per-
son lawfully domiciled in Indiana,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and a “citizen” of Indiana, Lake County, and
City of Gary, Cittadine, 790 N.E.2d at 980-81, thereby making Plaintiff authorized to bring this
“action to compel,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and giving Plaintiff public interests in the performance of
public duties required by Chapter 18.2, including interests in enforcement of the law and public
safety.

12. Plaintiff Greg Serbon is a Lake County, Indiana resident who often works in City of Gary,
and so is “a person lawfully domiciled in Indiana,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and a “citizen” of Indiana and
Lake County, who is often in City of Gary for extended periods, Cittadine, 790 N.E.2d at 980-
81, thereby making Plaintiff authorized to bring this “action to compel,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and giv-
ing Plaintiff public interests in the performance of public duties required by Chapter 18.2, in-
cluding interests in the enforcement of the law and in public safety.

13. Plaintiff Cheree Calabro is an Indiana resident and so is “a person lawfully domiciled in
Indiana,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and a “citizen” of Indiana, Cittadine, 790 N.E.2d at 980-81, thereby
making Plaintiff authorized to bring this “action to compel,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and giving Plaintiff
public interests in the performance of public duties required by Chapter 18.2, including interests

in the enforcement of the law and in public safety.
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14. Defendant City of Gary knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance.
15. Defendant City of Gary Common Council knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordi-

nance, and as a “council” of a “political subdivision” it is a “governmental body™*

subject to “an
action to compel,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

16. Defendant Herbert Smith, Jr. (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of Gary
Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person hold-
ing that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,” IC 5-
2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.°

17. Defendant Rebecca L. Wyatt (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of Gary
Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person hold-
ing that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,” IC 5-
2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

18. Defendant Michael L. Protho (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of Gary

Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person hold-

*Chapter 18.2 defines “governmental body” by incorporating the meaning at IC 5-22-2-13. IC
5-2-18.2-1. IC 5-22-2-13 follows:

IC 5-22-2-13 “Governmental body"

Sec. 13. “Governmental body” means an agency, a board, a branch, a bureau, a
commission, a council, a department, an institution, an office, or another establish-
ment of any of the following:

(1) The executive branch.

(2) The judicial branch.

(3) The legislative branch.

(4) A political subdivision.

“Political subdivision” includes a “municipal corporation,” IC 36-1-2-13, which includes a
“unit,” IC 36-1-2-10, which includes a “municipality,” IC 36-1-2-23, which “means city or
town,” IC 36-1-2-11.

*Members of the Gary Common Council are identified here based on the Gary Common Coun-
cil’s listing at http://www.garycommoncouncil.org/members.asp (last visited November 30,
2017). Any successors in office are automatically substituted. Ind. T.R. 25(F).
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ing that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,” IC 5-
2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

19. Defendant Mary Brown (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of Gary Com-
mon Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person holding
that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,” IC 5-2-
18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

20. Defendant Carolyn D. Rogers (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of Gary
Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person hold-
ing that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,” IC 5-
2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

21. Defendant Linda Barnes Caldwell (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of
Gary Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person
holding that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,”
IC 5-2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

22. Defendant LaVetta Sparks-Wade (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of
Gary Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person
holding that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,”
IC 5-2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

23. Defendant Ronald Brewer (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of Gary
Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person hold-
ing that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,” IC 5-
2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

24. Defendant Ragen Hatcher (sued in official capacity), is a Member of the City of Gary
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Common Council that knowingly and intentionally enacted the Ordinance, and as a person hold-
ing that “office” in the Council is a “governmental body” subject to “an action to compel,” IC 5-
2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.

25. Defendant City of Gary Mayor, an office currently held by Karen Freeman-Wilson (sued
in official capacity),® knowingly and intentionally signed the Ordinance into law, and as an “of-
fice” of a “political subdivision” the Mayor is a “governmental body” and subject to “an action

to compel,” IC 5-2-18.2-5, and an injunction for violating Chapter 18.2, IC 5-2-18.2-6.
Legal Context

26. Three legal contexts are involved here—(i) federal immigration law, (ii) Indiana’s Chap-
ter 18.2, and (iii) City of Gary’s Ordinance. To provide the Court with essential background,
these three contexts and key provisions are briefly discussed below.

Federal Immigration Law: Federal Law Protects Hoosiers with Immigration Laws

27. “The Government of the United States has broad, undoubted power over the subject of
immigration and the status of aliens.” Arizona v. United States, 567 U.S. 387, 394 (2012). “This
authority rests, in part, on the National Government’s constitutional power to ‘establish an uni-
form Rule of Naturalization,’ and its inherent power as sovereign to control and conduct rela-
tions with foreign nations.” Id. at 394-95 (internal citations omitted).

28. Congress consolidated the federal government’s broad authority over immigration law in
1952 in the Immigration and Nationality Act (“INA”) (8 U.S.C. 1101 et seq.),’ creating a com-

prehensive scheme to regulate immigration and naturalization. In INA, Congress specified cate-

5City of Gary identifies the current holder of the Mayor’s office at http:/www.gary.in.us/city-
departments/mayor.asp.

"Available at https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/granule/USCODE-2011-title8/USCODE-2011-
title8-chap12-subchapl-sec1101.
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gories of admissible aliens (8 U.S.C. 1182); made unlawful entry and unlawful reentry into the
U.S. federal crimes (8 U.S.C. 1325, 1326)%; required aliens to register with the federal govern-
ment and carry proof of status on their person (8 U.S.C. 1301-1306); authorized states to prevent
noncitizens from receiving public benefits (8 U.S.C. 1622); and imposed sanctions on employers
who hire unauthorized workers (8 U.S.C. 1324a). See also Arizona, 567 U.S. at 395-96.

29. Congress intended state and local governments to play a vital role in INA enforcement.
Arizona, 567 U.S. at 411 (“consultation between federal and state officials is an important fea-
ture of the immigration system”).

30. Congress has amended the INA to underscore the necessity of such cooperation. For ex-
ample, Section 642 of the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act (1996)
(“IIRAIRA”) is titled “Communication between government agencies and the Immigration and
Naturalization Service” and codified at 8 U.S.C. 1373.

31. 8 U.S.C. 1373 bans prohibitions or restrictions on federal-, state-, or local-government
sharing of information related to individuals’ citizenship or immigration status as follows:

[8 U.S.C.] § 1373. Communication between government agencies and the Immi-
gration and Naturalization Service

(a) In general

Notwithstanding any other provision of Federal, State, or local law, a Federal, State, or
local government entity or official may not prohibit, or in any way restrict, any gov-
ernment entity or official from sending to, or receiving from, the Immigration and Nat-

uralization Service information regarding the citizenship or immigration status, lawful
or unlawful, of any individual.

*Though illegal entry into the United States is often portrayed as a civil, not criminal, matter,
sections 1325 and 1326 clearly make “improper entry by an alien” and “reentry of removed
aliens,” respectively, crimes subject to substantial fines and imprisonment, with additional civil
penalties possible. See, e.g., 8 U.S.C. 1325(b) (titled “improper time or place; civil penalties”)
(“civil penalties under this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any criminal or other
civil penalties that may be imposed”).

Pub. L. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-546 (Sept. 30, 1966). Available at
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/STATUTE-110/pdf/STATUTE-110-Pg3009.pdf.
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(b) Additional authority of government entities
Notwithstanding any other provision of Federal, State, or local law, no person or
agency may prohibit, or in any way restrict, a Federal, State, or local government en-
tity from doing any of the following with respect to information regarding the immi-
gration status, lawful or unlawful, of any individual:
(1) Sending such information to, or requesting or receiving such information from,
the Immigration and Naturalization Service.
(2) Maintaining such information.
(3) Exchanging such information with any other Federal, State, or local government
entity.
(¢) Obligation to respond to inquiries
The Immigration and Naturalization Service shall respond to an inquiry by a Federal,
State, or local government agency, seeking to verify or ascertain the citizenship or im-
migration status of any individual within the jurisdiction of the agency for any purpose
authorized by law, by providing the requested verification or status information.

32. In crafting 8 U.S.C. 1373, Congress intended that the phrase “information regarding the
citizenship or immigration status” be interpreted broadly to include (inter alia) unimpeded com-
munication of information related to individuals’ citizenship or immigration status, including
unobstructed cooperation in locating illegal aliens. The Senate Judiciary Committee Report ac-
companying the bill that became I[IRAIRA makes this intent clear:

Effective immigration law enforcement requires a cooperative effort between all levels
of government. The acquisition, maintenance, and exchange of immigration-related
information by State and Local agencies is consistent with, and potentially of consid-
erable assistance to, the Federal regulation of immigration and the achieving of the
purposes and objectives of the Immigration and Nationality Act.
S. Rep. No. 104-249, at 19-20 (1996) (emphasis added)'’; see also City of New York v. U.S, 179
F.3d 29, 32-33 (2nd Cir.1999) (quoting foregoing Report). So Congress intended a “cooperative
effort” between all governmental levels in enforcing immigration law, with the “acquisition,
maintenance, and exchange of immigration-related information” being a key component.

33. 8 U.S.C. 1644, though enacted later, underscores the intent behind 8 U.S.C. 1373 and its

“information regarding ... immigration status” language. Section 1644 follows:

Available at https://www.congress.gov/104/crpt/srpt249/CRPT-104srpt249.pdf.
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8 U.S.C. 1644. Communication between State and local government agencies
and Immigration and Naturalization Service.

Notwithstanding any other provision of Federal, State, or local law, no State or local
government entity may be prohibited, or in any way restricted, from sending to or re-
ceiving from the Immigration and Naturalization Service information regarding the
immigration status, lawful or unlawful, of an alien in the United States.

34. 8 U.S.C. 1644 was enacted as Section 434 of The Personal Responsibility and Work Op-
portunity Reconciliation Act of 1996 (“PRWORA”)."" The PRWORA Conference Report made
clear Congress’s intent to (i) authorize state/local authority to communicate with INS about “the
presence, whereabouts, or activities of illegal aliens, (i) reaffirm the high priority of
immigration-law enforcement, and (iii) reaffirm that illegal aliens have no right to remain in the
country without detection:

The conferees intend to give State and local officials the authority to communicate
with the INS regarding the presence, whereabouts, or activities of illegal aliens.... The
conferees believe that immigration law enforcement is as high a priority as other as-
pects of Federal law enforcement, and that illegal aliens do not have the right to re-
main in the United States undetected and unapprehended.
H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 104-725, at 383 (1996)," reprinted in 1996 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2649, 2771; see
also City of New York, 179 F.3d at 32 (quoting foregoing Report).

35. Also as a part of IRAIRA, Congress enacted 8 U.S.C. 1357(g). In this provision, Con-
gress authorized written agreements whereby state/local LEOs could perform functions of fed-
eral immigration-enforcement officers. 8 U.S.C. 1357(g)(1). Congress also made clear that no
written agreement is needed for state/local officers or employees “to communicate with [federal

immigration authorities] regarding the immigration status of any individual, including reporting

knowledge that a particular alien is not lawfully present in the United States....” 8 U.S.C.

"Pub. L. 104-193, 110 Stat. 2105 (Aug. 22, 1966). Available at
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/STATUTE-110/pdt/STATUTE-110-Pg2105.pdf.

2Available at https://www.congress.gov/104/crpt/hrpt725/CRPT-104hrpt725.pdf.
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1357(g)(10)(A). Likewise, Congress also made clear that no written agreement is required for
state/local officers or employees to “cooperate with [federal immigration authorities] in the iden-
tification, apprehension, detention, or removal of aliens not lawfully present in the United
States.” 8 U.S.C. 1357(g)(10)(B).
36. Congress also encouraged state and local cooperation with the federal government in 8
U.S.C. 1324(c) (authorizing state/local LEOS to make arrests for violations of the INA’s prohibi-
tion against smuggling, transporting, or harboring aliens) and 8 U.S.C. 1252(c¢) (affirming
state/local LEO’s authority to arrest certain felons who have unlawfully returned to the United
States). See also U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”), Statement of Interest on Behalf of the
United States at *4, City of El Cenizo v. Texas, No. 5:17-cv-00404-OLG, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
140309 (W.D. Tex. Aug. 30 2017) (“Statement of Interest™)."
37. In the El Cenizo Statement of Interest, the DOJ highlighted several examples of coopera-
tion between state and local officials and the federal government in immigration law enforce-
ment. These examples include
State and local participation in joint task forces with federal officers, providing opera-
tional support in executing a warrant, allowing federal immigration officials to gain
access to detainees held in State or local facilities and holding an alien in custody so
that the federal government can effectuate an arrest, responding to requests for infor-
mation about when an alien will be released from custody, requesting immigration
status information from aliens, and sharing that information with federal officials.

Id. at 4-5.

38. In the Statement of Interest, the DOJ established that a key means of such cooperation is
state/local cooperation with detainer requests by the U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement

(“ICE”)—addressing “generally aliens with pending criminal charges or convictions”—which are

now subject to the following policy:

BAvailable at https://www.justice.gov/opa/press-release/file/975761/download.
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[ICE] detainers issue only when there is probable cause to believe that the subject of
the detainer is a removable alien, and ICE detainers are accompanied by an adminis-
trative warrant issued pursuant to 8 U.S.C. §§ 1226 or 1231. The detention period,
moreover, may last no more than 48 hours. State and local cooperation with detainer
requests facilitates the orderly transfer of removable aliens to federal custody when
they are released from state or local custody. Absent cooperation, removable aliens
would be released back into the community. Given the population addressed by immi-
gration detainer requests—generally aliens with pending criminal charges or convic-
tions—they are an important tool to promote public safety. When criminal aliens are
released from state or local custody, they have the opportunity to reoffend and ab-
scond. There are also many risks and uncertainties involved when apprehending crimi-
nal aliens at-large in the community, rather than in a controlled custodial setting.
At-large arrests increase the risk to the officers and agents conducting the arrests, the
alien arrested, and members of the public.

These issues involving the sharing of information regarding aliens in state criminal
custody, and the lawful cooperation by state and local authorities with federal immi-
gration detainer requests, are of deep concern to the United States and present serious
public safety and immigration enforcement issues.

Id. at 1-2.

39. The DOJ Statement of Interest also established that honoring ICE detainers and other such
cooperation by state/local authorities with federal immigration enforcement officials is not pre-
empted by federal law, id. at 20, is consistent with the Tenth Amendment, id. at 24, and is fully
consistent with the Fourth Amendment, id. at 26.

40. As further stated by the DOJ, the aforementioned “cooperative efforts are critical to facili-
tating federal processing of the hundreds of thousands of aliens arrested for immigration viola-
tions each year.” Id. at 5; see also Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”), Guidance on
State and Local Governments’ Assistance in Immigration Enforcement and Related Matters at 9
(Sept. 21, 2011) (“DHS Guidance)" (“In requiring ‘cooperation,’ the INA thus requires that a
state or local law enforcement officer who assists DHS officers in their enforcement of the immi-

gration laws must at all times have the freedom to adapt to federal priorities and direction and

“Available at https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/guidance-state-local-assis-
tance-immigration-enforcement.pdf.
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conform to federal discretion, rather than being subject to systematic mandatory state or local
directives that may work at odds with DHS.”).

41. The federal government’s immigration-enforcement priorities are, not persons who are
simply here illegally, but persons who “pose a risk to public safety or national security,” includ-
ing “removable aliens who are convicted felons or who are involved in gang activity or drug traf-
ficking™:

Additionally, regardless of the basis of removability, Department personnel should
prioritize removable aliens who: (1) have been convicted of any criminal offense; (2)
have been charged with any criminal offense that has not been resolved; (3) have com-
mitted acts which constitute a chargeable criminal offense; (4) have engaged in fraud
or willful misrepresentation in connection with any official matter before a govern-
mental agency; (5) have abused any program related to receipt of public benefits; (6)
are subject to a final order of removal but have not complied with their legal obliga-
tion to depart the United States; or (7) in the judgment of an immigration officer, oth-
erwise pose a risk to public safety or national security. The Director of ICE, the Com-
missioner of CBP, and the Director of USCIS may, as they determine is appropriate,
issue further guidance to allocate appropriate resources to prioritize enforcement activ-
ities within these categories—for example, by prioritizing enforcement activities
against removable aliens who are convicted felons or who are involved in gang activ-
ity or drug trafficking.
Memorandum from John Kelly, DHS Secretary, to Federal Enforcement Officials at 2 (Feb. 20,
2017) (“Subject: Enforcement of the Immigration Laws to Serve the National Interest”).”” So in
seeking full cooperation at all levels of government, the federal government is seeking to protect
the public by prioritizing (inter alia) immigration-law enforcement against felons, gang mem-
bers, and drug traffickers. Of course, while DHS has “enforcement priorities,” any “deportable
alien” under 8 U.S.C. 1227 may be placed into removal proceedings by federal authorities.

Indiana’s Chapter 18.2: Indiana Protects Hoosiers by Preempting Sanctuary-City Laws

42. To protect Hoosiers by assuring that Indiana governmental bodies are both compliant with

Available at https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/17_0220_S1_Enforcement-
of-the-Immigration-Laws-to-Serve-the-National-Interest.pdf.
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protective federal law and are assisting federal authorities, Indiana enacted Indiana Code 5-2-
18.2,' titled “Citizenship and Immigration Status Information and Enforcement of Federal Im-
migration Laws,”"” to require such compliance by “governmental bodies” and “postsecondary
educational institutions,” including employees of the foregoing, and “law enforcement offi-
cers.”" Indiana does so with three mandates, called herein the “Information-Cooperation Man-
date,” IC 5-2-18.2-3, the “Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate,” IC 5-2-18.2-4, and
the “LEO-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate,” IC 5-2-18.2-7."

43. The Information-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-3, bans restrictions or prohibitions
on maintaining or sharing “information of the citizenship or immigration status ... of an individ-
ual” as follows:

IC 5-2-18.2-3 Prohibited from enacting or implementing restrictions on taking
certain actions regarding information of citizenship or immigration status
Sec. 3. A governmental body or a postsecondary educational institution may not

enact or implement an ordinance, a resolution, a rule, or a policy that prohibits or in
any way restricts another governmental body or employee of a postsecondary educa-
tional institution, including a law enforcement officer, a state or local official, or a
state or local government employee, from taking the following actions with regard to
information of the citizenship or immigration status, lawful or unlawful, of an individ-
ual:

(1) Communicating or cooperating with federal officials.

(2) Sending to or receiving information from the United States Department of

Homeland Security.

"®Chapter 18.2 was enacted as part of Senate Enrolled Act (“SEA”) 590. Available at
http://www.in.gov/legislative/bills/2011/PDEF/SE/SE0590.1.pdf. Buquer v. City of Indianapolis,
2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 45084 (S.D. Ind. 2013), enjoined applications of SEA 590 § 18 (restrict-
ing uses of consular identification documents) and enjoined § 20 (authorizing some state/local
LEO arrests not “at the behest of the federal officials”™), id. at *8-9.

17 Available at http://iga.in.gov/legislative/laws/2017/ic/titles/005#5-2-18.2.

'8 “As used in this chapter, ‘law enforcement officer’ has the meaning set forth in IC 5-2-1-2.”
IC 5-2-18.2-2 (defining term so as to include LEOs of the Gary Police Department).

"Though Indiana has granted some “home rule,” IC 36-1-3, it may preempt local government
ordinances and policies. IC 36-1-3-5 (“unit” lacks power where “expressly denied by ... statute™).
So Chapter 18.2 preempts local ordinances or policies that conflict.
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(3) Maintaining information.
(4) Exchanging information with another federal, state, or local government en-
tity.

44. The Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-4, bans limitations

or restrictions that provide for less-than-full-extent-permissible federal immigration enforce-

ment:

IC 5-2-18.2-4 Prohibited from limiting or restricting enforcement of federal im-
migration laws

Sec. 4. A governmental body or a postsecondary educational institution may not
limit or restrict the enforcement of federal immigration laws to less than the full extent
permitted by federal law.

45. Full-extent-enforcement-cooperation includes information sharing, as the Ordinance ac-
knowledges. Ordinance § 26-55(d) (“enforcement operations, including ... information”).

46. “[T]he full extent permitted by federal law” includes (inter alia) the formal cooperation
authorized by 8 U.S.C. 1357(g)(1), which allows written agreements with states and political
subdivisions whereby state/local LEOs may “perform a function of an immigration officer.” It
also includes the cooperation authorized by 8 U.S.C. 1357(g)(10), absent such a formal agree-
ment, as follows:

(10) Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require an agreement under this

subsection in order for any officer or employee of a State or political subdivision of a
State—

(A) to communicate with the Attorney General regarding the immigration status
of any individual, including reporting knowledge that a particular alien is not law-
fully present in the United States; or

(B) otherwise to cooperate with the Attorney General in the identification, ap-
prehension, detention, or removal of aliens not lawfully present in the United
States.

47. The LEO-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate at IC 5-2-18.2-7 summarizes the forego-
ing requirements of §§ 3 and 4 as a “duty to cooperate” and mandates notice to law-enforcement

officers of that “duty to cooperate” on immigration-law enforcement “matters” as follows:
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5-2-18.2-7. Written notice to law enforcement officers.

Every law enforcement agency (as defined in IC 5-2-17-2) shall provide each law en-
forcement officer with a written notice that the law enforcement officer has a duty to
cooperate with state and federal agencies and officials on matters pertaining to en-
forcement of state and federal laws governing immigration.

48. Parts of the same statutory provision must be read in pari materia, so §§ 3, 4, and 7 of
Chapter 18.2 must be read together. Doing so indicates that Chapter 18.2 imposes (inter alia) a
state-mandated LEO “duty to cooperate” with immigration-enforcement authorities “on matters
pertaining to” immigration-law enforcement and that this LEO-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate
includes, the two mandates in §§ 3 and 4 applicable to all governmental bodies, i.e., information
sharing and enforcement cooperation to the full extent permitted by federal law.

49. And reading §§ 3, 4, and 7 of Chapter 18.2 together indicates that Indiana intended to bar
prohibitions and restrictions on sharing information about citizenship and immigration information
with such information interpreted broadly, not narrowly to mean a mere statement of someone’s
country of citizenship or immigration status. See IC 2-5-18.2-4 (not “less than full extent permitted
by federal law”) and -7 (“matters pertaining to enforcement,” which includes full sharing of infor-
mation useful to enforcement).

50. The broad reading of the information that Indiana requires to be shared (by banning prohib-
iting or restricting sharing it) is further evidenced by Indiana’s adoption of the federal language
prohibiting prohibitions or restrictions on information sharing. Compare 8 U.S.C. 1373 (“informa-
tion regarding the citizenship or immigration status, lawful or unlawful, of any individual”) and 8
U.S.C. 1644 (“information regarding the immigration status, lawful or unlawful, of an alien in the
United States™) with IC 2-5-18.2-3 (“with regard to information of the citizenship or immigration

status, lawful or unlawful, of an individual”). By using language virtually identical to the federal

language, Indiana intended to enforce the federal requirement in Indiana at least to the broad ex-
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tent of the federal meaning of those terms as set out above in 9 31-33. See, e.g., Brownsburg Area
Patrons Affecting Change v. Baldwin, 714 N.E2d 136 (Ind. 1999) (construing language virtually
identical to federal statutory language to mean the same thing as U.S. Supreme Court construed it
to mean).

City of Gary’s Sanctuary-City Ordinance

51. Despite Indiana’s Chapter 18.2, preempting local government from enacting contrary or-
dinances, rules, and policies with the clear intent to ban sanctuary cities and welcoming cities,
Defendants (collectively “Gary Defendants”) enacted Ordinance 9100 to make City of Gary a
“welcoming city.”

52. The Ordinance’s preamble purports to “support immigration enforcement as a federal mat-
ter” and says “City of Gary is committed to upholding ... the 4th Amendment requirements of
probable cause for arrest and detention and the 10th [AJmendment bar on commandeering of
local governments to perform federal functions,” but it is silent about Indiana’s Chapter 18.2,
Chapter 18.2°s preemption, and Chapter 18.2°s mandates against doing what the Gary Defen-
dants did in the Ordinance.

53. The Ordinance sets forth the City’s laws and policies governing immigration and is bind-
ing on all municipal agencies and their agents.

54. By a vote of 6 to 3, the City of Gary Common Council (“Council”) passed and adopted
the Ordinance on May 16, 2017. City of Gary Mayor, Karen Freeman-Wilson, approved and
signed the Ordinance on May 22, 2017. See Ordinance 9001 at 8 (Appendix A). The Ordinance
was sponsored by Mayor Karen Freeman-Wilson and Councilwoman Rebecca Wyatt. Id.

55. In the “[d]efinitions,” Ordinance § 26-51*° defines “citizenship or immigration status” in a

**Because the Ordinance in the form signed uses two formats for identifying sections (both
periods and hyphens), Plaintiffs simply quote the Ordinance, so the following variants are not
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broad, all-matters-regarding manner as follows:

“Citizenship or immigration status” means all matters regarding questions of citizen-
ship of the United States or any other country, the authority to reside in or otherwise
be present in the United States, the time and manner of a person’s entry into the
United States, or any other immigration matter enforced by the Department of Home-
land Security or successor or other federal agency charged with the enforcement of
civil immigration laws.?'

56. In the “[d]efinitions,” Ordinance § 26-51 defines “immigration enforcement operation” to
include enforcement concerning both civil and criminal matters as follows:

“[ITmmigration enforcement operation” means any operation that has as one of its ob-
jectives the identification or apprehension of a person or persons: 1) in order to subject
them to civil immigration detention, removal proceedings and removal from the
United States; or 2) to criminally prosecute a person or persons for offenses related to
immigration status, including but not limited to violations of Sections 1253, 1304,
1306(a) and (b), 1325, or 1326 of Title 8 of the United States Code.

57. Ordinance § 26-52 restricts cooperation in inquiries and investigations regarding immigra-
tion and citizenship information to less than the full-extent-permissible cooperation mandated by
Indiana Chapter 18.2 as follows:

Section 26-52. Requesting information prohibited.

No agent or agency shall request information about or otherwise investigate or assist
in the investigation of the citizenship or immigration status of any person unless such
inquiry or investigation is required by an order issued by a court of competent jurisdic-
tion. Notwithstanding this provision, the Corporation Counsel may investigate and
inquire about citizenship or immigration status when relevant to potential or actual
litigation or an administrative proceeding in which the City is or may be a party.

58. Ordinance § 26-55 restricts immigration-enforcement to less than the full-extent-permissi-

typographical errors: § 26-51 (“Definitions.”), § 26-52 (“Requesting information prohibited.”),
§ 26-55 (“Immigration enforcement actions — Federal responsibility.”), § 26.58 (“Commit-
ments.”), § 26.59 (“Information regarding citizenship or immigration status.”), and § 26.61 (“Ef-
fect upon passage.”).

Y'Despite this broad, all-matters-regarding definition of citizenship/immigration information
—which squares with how the federal and Indiana mandates for information-sharing should be
interpreted, see supra 99 32-34—§ 26.59 defines the same information narrowly in an effort to
limit cooperation. Seeinfra q 60.
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ble cooperation mandated by Chapter 18.2 as follows:

Section 26-55. Immigration enforcement actions - Federal responsibility.
No agency or agent shall stop, arrest, detain, or continue to detain a person after that
person becomes eligible for release from custody or is free to leave an encounter with
an agent or agency, based on any of the following:
(a) an immigration detainer;
(b) an administrative warrant (including but not limited to [sic] entered into the Fed-
eral Bureau of Investigation’s National Crime Information Center database); or
(c) any other basis that is based solely on the belief that the person is not present le-
gally in the United States, or that the person has committed a civil immigration viola-
tion.
(d) No agency or agent shall be permitted to accept requests by ICE or other agencies
to support or assist in any capacity with immigration enforcement operations,** in-
cluding but not limited to requests to provide information**! on persons who may be
the subject of immigration enforcement operations (except as may be required under
section 11 of this ordinance [sic]"**), to establish traffic perimeters, or to otherwise be
present to assist or support an operation. In the event an agent receives a request to
support or assist in an immigration enforcement operation, he or she shall report the
request to his or her supervisor, who shall decline the request and document the decli-
nation in an interoffice memorandum to the agency director through the chain of com-
mand.
(e) No agency or agent shall enter into an agreement under Section 1357(g) of Title 8
of the United States Code or any other federal law that permits state or local govern-
mental entities to enforce federal civil immigration laws.
(f) Unless presented with a valid and properly issued criminal warrant, no agency or
agent shall:

(1) permit ICE agents access to a person being detained by, or in the custody of, the

agency or agent;

(2) transfer any person into ICE custody;

(3) permit ICE agents use of agency facilities, information (except as may be re-

2 “[Ilmmigration enforcement operations” is defined to include civil and criminal enforce-

ment related to immigration status. See supra 9 55 (definition).

*Notably, Gary Defendants acknowledge here that “enforcement” includes “provid[ing] infor-
mation,” so that not only the Information-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-3, but also the Full-
Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-4, and the LEO-Enforcement-Coopera-
tion Mandate” require sharing of information on immigration matters as part of enforcement.

*Plaintiffs’ counsel identify this reference to a “section 11 as a “sic” because Ordinance
9100 contains no “section 11 that counsel are able to locate. Moreover, counsel have been un-
able to even identify any § 26.11 (or § 26-11) in the Gary Municipal Code, either on LEXIS or at
City of Gary’s website. If “section 11” somehow refers to § 26.59, given that the topic is
“provid[ing] information on persons who may be the subject of immigration enforcement opera-
tions,” that overly narrow provision fails to comply with federal law and Indiana’s Chapter 18.2,
as established in Counts I and IV.
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quired under section 11 of this ordinance), or equipment, including any agency
electronic databases, for investigative interviews or other investigative purpose or
for purposes of executing an immigration enforcement operation; or

(4) expend the time of the agency or agent in responding to ICE inquiries or com-
municating with ICE regarding a person’s custody status, release date, or contact
information.

59. Ordinance § 26.58(c) imposes a different duty on LEOs than the full-extent-permissible
cooperation duty imposed by Chapter 18.2 as follows:

Section 26.58. Commitments.

(a) The City commits to working with community advocates, policy experts, and legal
advocates to defend the human rights of immigrants.

(b) The Gary Police Department will continue to respond to requests from immigrant
communities to defend them against all crimes, including hate crimes, to assist peo-
ple with limited language proficiency and to connect immigrants with social ser-
vices.

(c) The City recognizes the arrest of an individual increases that individual's risk of
deportation even in cases where the individual is found to be not guilty, creating a
disproportionate impact from law enforcement operations. Therefore, for all indi-
viduals, the Gary Police Department will recognize and consider the extreme po-
tential negative consequences of an arrest in exercising its discretion regarding
whether to take such an action and will arrest an individual only after determining
that less severe alternatives are unavailable or would be inadequate to effect a sat-
isfactory resolution.

(d) The Gary Police Department will make available and provide material at all Gary
Police Stations concerning this ordinance and information concerning rights of all
immigrants.

Ordinance § 26.58 (emphasis added).

60. Ordinance § 26.59 purports to comply with federal law, 8 U.S.C. 1373 and 1644, by a
narrow definition of information that must be shared—which squares with neither the broad, all-
matters-regarding definition at Ordinance § 26-51 (and used at § 26-52) nor the full-extent-per-
missible cooperation required by Chapter 18.2—as follows:

Section 26.59. Information regarding citizenship or immigration status.

Nothing in this chapter prohibits any municipal agency from sending to, or receiving
from, any local, state, federal agency, information regarding an individual’s citizen-
ship or immigration status. All municipal agents shall be instructed that federal law
does not allow any such prohibition. “Information regarding an individual’s citizen-

ship or immigration status,” for purposes of this section, means a statement of the indi-
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vidual’s country of citizenship or a statement of the individual’s immigration status.

61. Ordinance § 26.61 made the Ordinance effective immediately upon passage and approval.
Additional Facts

62. All Plaintiffs are presently suffering irreparable harm to their public interests and right,
established by Chapter 18.2, as a result of the Ordinance and Gary Defendant’s noncompliance

with the public duty established by Chapter 18.2, and Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

Count I
Ordinance § 26-52 Violates Chapter 18.2.

63. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

64. In enacting Ordinance § 26-52 (restricting full cooperation regarding information shar-
ing), Gary Defendants violated Indiana’s Chapter 18.2—particularly IC 2-5-18.2-3, -4, and -
7—which preempts the immigration-law field and bans what Gary Defendants have done.

65. In the Information-Cooperation Mandate, IC 2-5-18.2-3, Indiana mandates broad and full
cooperation among federal, state, and local entities in communicating, cooperating, sending, re-
ceiving, maintaining, and exchanging information regarding citizenship and immigration status:

A governmental body ... may not enact or implement an ordinance, a resolution, a rule,
or a policy that prohibits or in any way restricts another governmental body ..., includ-
ing a law enforcement officer, a ... local official, or a ... local government employee,
from taking the following actions with regard to information of the citizenship or im-
migration status, lawful or unlawful, of an individual:
(1) Communicating or cooperating with federal officials.
(2) Sending to or receiving information from the United States Department of
Homeland Security.
(3) Maintaining information.
(4) Exchanging information with another federal, state, or local government en-
tity.
IC 2-5-18.2-3.

66. In the Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 2-5-18.2-4, Indiana mandates
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the following regarding “enforcement,” which necessarily requires cooperation both in sharing
information® necessary to enforcement and all activities to facilitate arrests, detainers, and other
enforcement proceedings: “Sec 4. A governmental body ... may not limit or restrict the enforce-
ment of federal immigration laws to less than the full extent permitted by federal law.”

67. “[Plermitted by federal law”—regarding statutes, regulations, policies, and guidance—
includes authorization for state and local government and LEOs to enter into enforcement agree-
ments, 8 U.S.C. 1357(g)(1), to broadly cooperate in immigration enforcement and information
sharing without such agreements, 8 U.S.C. 1357(g)(10), and otherwise to cooperate in sharing
information regarding the citizenship and immigration status of individuals, see supra q 35.

68. “[Plermitted by federal law”—regarding constitutional law—included the fact that the
U.S. Constitution permits the full cooperation that Indiana’s Chapter 18.2 mandates regarding
information sharing and enforcement support. See supra 99 37-38 (U.S. Statement of Interest in
El Cenizo).

69. “[P]ermitted by federal law” includes the Supreme Court’s holding in Arizona, 567 U.S. at
411-15, that law enforcement officials may inquire about citizenship and immigration status as
part of a stop that is otherwise lawful under state law, e.g., for speeding.

70. The mandated duties imposed by §§ 3 and 4 of Chapter 18.2 are further clarified by § 7,
which recognizes that Chapter 18.2 imposes a full-extent-permissible cooperation duty on LEOs,
which duty necessarily includes full-extent-cooperation on sharing of all information related to
immigration and citizenship useful for enforcement as follows:

Every law enforcement agency (as defined in IC 5-2-17-2) shall provide each law en-
forcement officer with a written notice that the law enforcement officer has a duty to

cooperate with state and federal agencies and officials on matters pertaining to en-
forcement of state and federal laws governing immigration.

»See supra 9§ 58 n.23.
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71. Gary Ordinance § 26-52 not only restricts LEO requests about citizenship/immigration
status that Arizona held permissible but also restricts investigations and cooperation in investiga-
tions regarding immigration and citizenship information to less than Chapter 18.2’s full-extent-
permissible-cooperation requirement as follows:

No agent or agency shall request information about or otherwise investigate or assist
in the investigation of the citizenship or immigration status of any person unless such
inquiry or investigation is required by an order issued by a court of competent jurisdic-
tion. Notwithstanding this provision, the Corporation Counsel may investigate and
inquire about citizenship or immigration status when relevant to potential or actual
litigation or an administrative proceeding in which the City is or may be a party.

72. In so restricting permissible requests, investigations, and cooperation, Ordinance 26-52
uses the following broad, all-matters-regarding definition of “citizenship or immigration status”
from Ordinance § 26-51:

“Citizenship or immigration status” means all matters regarding questions of citizen-
ship of the United States or any other country, the authority to reside in or otherwise
be present in the United States, the time and manner of a person’s entry into the
United States, or any other immigration matter enforced by the Department of Home-
land Security or successor or other federal agency charged with the enforcement of
civil immigration laws.

73. In Ordinance § 26-52, with the foregoing all-matters-regarding definition, Gary Defen-
dants have enacted an ordinance, rule, and policy prohibited by the Information-Cooperation
Mandate, IC 2-5-18.2-3, and the Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 2-5-18.2-4,
as informed by the LEO-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-7.

74. Ordinance § 26-52 is not saved by Ordinance § 26.59, which purports to comply with 8
U.S.C. 1373 and 1644 (but not Chapter 18.2) but employs an improper, narrow definition of the

citizenship/immigration information that must be shared—which squares with neither the broad,

all-matters-regarding citizenship/immigration definition at Ordinance § 26-51 (and used at § 26-
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52), nor the full-extent-permissible cooperation required by Chapter 18.2, nor the proper broad,
all-matters-regarding understanding of what is required by 8 U.S.C 1373 and 1644, see supra
99 32-34—as follows:
Section 26.59. Information regarding citizenship or immigration status.
Nothing in this chapter prohibits any municipal agency from sending to, or receiving
from, any local, state, federal agency, information regarding an individual’s citizen-
ship or immigration status. All municipal agents shall be instructed that federal law
does not allow any such prohibition. “Information regarding an individual’s citizen-
ship or immigration status,” for purposes of this section, means a statement of the indi-
vidual’s country of citizenship or a statement of the individual’s immigration status.

75. Rather than preserving open lines of communication and cooperation between local, state,
and federal officials regarding all matters broadly related to citizenship and immigration status as
required by IC 5-2-18.2-3, -4, and -7, Ordinance § 26-52 violates state law by doing the oppo-
site.

76. Ordinance § 26-52 restricts a City of Gary agent or agency from “investigat[ing] or
assist[ing] in the investigation of the citizenship or immigration status of any person unless such
inquiry or investigation is required by an order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction.”

77. Ordinance § 26-52 allows “the Corporation Counsel [to] investigate and inquire about
citizenship or immigration status” only “when relevant to potential or actual litigation or an ad-
ministrative proceeding in which the City is or may be a party.”

78. Regarding IC 5-2-18.2-3 particularly, that section clearly states that a local government
cannot enact or implement an ordinance that, regarding the citizenship/immigration status of an
individual, prohibits or restrict its agencies or agents from:

(1) communicating or cooperating with federal officials;
(2) sending information to or receiving it from the United States Department of Home-
land Security;

(3) maintaining information; or
(4) exchanging information with another federal, state, or local government entity.
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Id.

79. Since the actions listed in (1) through (4) in the preceding paragraph typically would be
taken by a local official investigating immigration status, the express language of Ordinance
§ 26-52, by placing restrictions—a court order or “relevant” potential or actual litigation or ad-
ministrative proceeding—on when local City of Gary LEOs may investigate, assist in the investi-
gation of, or otherwise inquire into the citizenship or immigration status of an individual, re-
stricts local officials from taking these actions.

80. Accordingly, Ordinance § 26-52 violates IC 5-2-18.2-3’s ban on prohibiting or restricting
communication or cooperation with federal officials, sending information to or receiving it from
DHS, and exchanging information with another federal, state, or local government entity.

81. Regarding IC 5-2-18.2-4 particularly, Ordinance § 26-52 also violates IC 5-2-18.2-4’s ban
on “limit[ing] or restrict[ing] the enforcement of federal immigration laws to less than the full
extent permitted by federal law.”

82. Federal law permits full cooperation by state/local officials, at the request of the federal
government, in enforcing federal immigration law. For example, under 8 U.S.C. 1357(g)(10)(B),
no formal agreement with the federal government is needed for state and local officers or em-
ployees to “cooperate with [federal immigration authorities] in the identification, apprehension,
detention, or removal of aliens not lawfully present in the United States.” Also, 8 U.S.C. 1373
and 1644 obviously permit full communication between federal and state and local officials re-
garding immigration status information.

83. Ordinance § 26-52 “limits or restricts the enforcement of federal immigration laws to less
than the full extent permitted by federal law” and thereby violates IC 5-2-18.2-4, in several

ways.
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84. First, Ordinance § 26-52 requires a court order for a City of Gary agent or agency to “re-
quest information about or otherwise investigate or assist in the investigation of the citizenship
or immigration status of any person.” Federal law permits such actions without a court order.

85. Second, Ordinance § 26-52 allows “the Corporation Counsel [to] investigate and inquire
about citizenship or immigration status” only “when relevant to potential or actual litigation or
an administrative proceeding in which the City is or may be a party.” Federal law permits such
investigations and inquiries by officers of a locality when they are not so relevant.

86. Third, Ordinance § 26-55(a)-(b) prohibits a City of Gary agency or agent from detaining
an individual for federal immigration authorities pursuant to “an immigration detainer” or “an
administrative warrant.”

87. Under federal detainer protocol, all that federal authorities require to hold an individual
for ICE is a valid ICE detainer Form [-247A and administrative warrant Form 1-200 or 1-205.%°

88. IC 5-2-18.2-6 requires that “[i]f a court finds that a governmental body ... knowingly or
intentionally violated section 3 or 4 of this chapter, the court shall enjoin the violation.”

89. By enacting Ordinance 9100, including Ordinance § 26-52, Gary Defendants acted know-
ingly and intentionally in violating the contrary provisions of IC 2-5-18.2-3 and -4, as informed
by § 7.

90. This Court should find that Gary Defendants knowingly and intentionally violated Indi-

ana’s Chapter 18.2 by enacting Ordinance § 26-52 and enjoin that provision of the Ordinance.

Count II
Ordinance § 26-55 Violates Chapter 18.2.

91. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

*%UJ.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Detainer Policy, https://www.ice.gov/
detainer-policy.
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92. As established in Count I, Indiana Chapter 18.2 preempts the immigration-law field by
barring any immigration-law ordinance, rule, or policy prohibiting or restricting both informa-
tion and enforcement to less than full-extent-permissible cooperation. See IC 2-5-18.2-3, -4, and
-7.

93. Ordinance § 26-55 violates IC 2-5-18.2-3 and -4, as informed by -7.

94. Ordinance § 26-55 restricts immigration-enforcement to less than the full-extent-permissi-
ble cooperation mandated by Chapter 18.2 as follows:

Section 26-55. Immigration enforcement actions - Federal responsibility.
No agency or agent shall stop, arrest, detain, or continue to detain a person after that
person becomes eligible for release from custody or is free to leave an encounter with
an agent or agency, based on any of the following:
(a) an immigration detainer;
(b) an administrative warrant (including but not limited to [sic] entered into the Fed-
eral Bureau of Investigation’s National Crime Information Center database); or
(c) any other basis that is based solely on the belief that the person is not present le-
gally in the United States, or that the person has committed a civil immigration viola-
tion.
(d) No agency or agent shall be permitted to accept requests by ICE or other agencies
to support or assist in any capacity with immigration enforcement operations, includ-
ing but not limited to requests to provide information on persons who may be the sub-
ject of immigration enforcement operations (except as may be required under section
11 of this ordinance [sic]), to establish traffic perimeters, or to otherwise be present to
assist or support an operation. In the event an agent receives a request to support or
assist in an immigration enforcement operation, he or she shall report the request to his
or her supervisor, who shall decline the request and document the declination in an
interoffice memorandum to the agency director through the chain of command.
(e) No agency or agent shall enter into an agreement under Section 1357(g) of Title 8
of the United States Code or any other federal law that permits state or local govern-
mental entities to enforce federal civil immigration laws.
(f) Unless presented with a valid and properly issued criminal warrant, no agency or
agent shall:
(1) permit ICE agents access to a person being detained by, or in the custody of, the
agency or agent;
(2) transfer any person into ICE custody;
(3) permit ICE agents use of agency facilities, information (except as may be re-
quired under section 11 of this ordinance [sic]), or equipment, including any agency
electronic databases, for investigative interviews or other investigative purpose or
for purposes of executing an immigration enforcement operation; or
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(4) expend the time of the agency or agent in responding to ICE inquiries or com-
municating with ICE regarding a person’s custody status, release date, or contact
information.

95. The phrase “immigration enforcement operations,” as used in § 26-55, is a term of art in
the Ordinance and defined to include civil and criminal immigration enforcement as follows:

“[IJmmigration enforcement operation” means any operation that has as one of its ob-
jectives the identification or apprehension of a person or persons: 1) in order to subject
them to civil immigration detention, removal proceedings and removal from the
United States; or 2) to criminally prosecute a person or persons for offenses related to
immigration status, including but not limited to violations of Sections 1253, 1304,
1306(a) and (b), 1325, or 1326 of Title 8 of the United States Code.
So the enforcement cooperation that the Ordinance prohibits and restricts is targeted precisely at
immigration enforcement cooperation (including sharing of useful information) that Chapter 18.2
says governmental bodies may not so prohibit and restrict.

96. Ordinance § 26-55’s first sentence (including (a) through (c)) violates the Full-Extent-
Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 2-5-18.2-4, because it bans cooperation with ICE
detainer requests and administrative warrants—which now accompany detainer requests and
state the basis of probable cause to believe a person is removable under federal immigration law
(see supra 9 38)—though Chapter 18.2 requires such cooperation.

97. Ordinance § 26-55’s first sentence, including part (c), also violates the Full-Extent-
Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 2-5-18.2-4, because it prohibits LEOs from asking about
citizenship or immigration status during a stop justified under state law, e.g., for speeding, even
though the Supreme Court permitted questions about citizenship or immigration status during
such stops in Arizona, 567 U.S. at 411-15.

98. Ordinance § 26-55(d), banning enforcement assistance while acknowledging that enforce-

ment assistance includes “provid[ing] information,” violates Indiana’s Information-Cooperation
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Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-3, which forbids governmental bodies from prohibiting or otherwise re-
stricting local officials from communicating or cooperating with federal officials, sending infor-
mation to or receiving it from the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, or exchanging infor-
mation with another federal, state, or local governmental entity regarding citizenship or immigra-
tion status.

99. While Ordinance § 26.59 purports to comply with 8 U.S.C. 1373 and 1644, by allowing
the sharing of narrowly defined citizenship and immigration information, it does not fix the vio-
lations of state and federal law here because it employs an improperly narrow definition of the
citizenship/immigration information that must be shared—which squares with neither the broad,
all-matters-regarding citizenship/immigration definition at Ordinance § 26-51 (and used at § 26-
52), nor the full-extent-permissible cooperation required by Chapter 18.2, nor the proper broad,
all-matters-regarding understanding of what is required by 8 U.S.C 1373 and 1644, which fed-
eral law Chapter 18.2 implements in Indiana.

100. Ordinance 26-55(d) also violates the Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate at
IC 5-2-18.2-4, which encompasses provision of information helpful to enforcement and requires
full cooperation permitted under federal law. See supra 99| 44-46.

101. Ordinance § 26-55(d) further violates the Information-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-
18.2-3, the Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-4, and the LEO-
Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-7, by mandating that any requests to support or
assist in an immigration enforcement operation be automatically reported to an agent’s supervi-
sor who is required to decline the request.

102. Ordinance § 26-55(¢e), which prohibits “enter[ing] into an agreement under Section

1357(g) of Title 8 of the United States Code or any other federal law that permits state or local
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governmental entities to enforce federal civil immigration laws,” violates the Information-Coop-
eration Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-3, the Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-
18.2-4, and the LEO-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-7, by barring participation
in the 1357(g)(1) program described favorably in Arizona, as a “circumstance[] in which state
officers may perform the functions of an immigration officer,” 567 U.S. at 409.

103. Ordinance § 26-55(f), prohibiting multiple forms of cooperation with ICE absent a valid
“criminal warrant,” violates the Information-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-3, the Full-
Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-4, and the LEO-Enforcement-Coopera-
tion Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-7, by barring cooperation permitted by those mandates and federal
law.

104. IC 5-2-18.2-6 requires that “[i]f a court finds that a governmental body ... knowingly or
intentionally violated section 3 or 4 of this chapter, the court shall enjoin the violation.”

105. By enacting Ordinance 9100, including Ordinance § 26-55, Gary Defendants acted
knowingly and intentionally in violating the contrary provisions of IC 2-5-18.2-3 and -4, as in-
formed by § 7.

106. This Court should find that Gary Defendants knowingly and intentionally violated Indi-

ana’s Chapter 18.2 by enacting Ordinance § 26-55 and enjoin that provision of the Ordinance.

Count III
Ordinance § 26.58(c) Violates Chapter 18.2.

107. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding para-
graphs.
108. As established in Count I, Indiana Chapter 18.2 preempts the immigration-law field by

barring any immigration-law ordinance, rule, or policy prohibiting or restricting both informa-
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tion and enforcement to less than full-extent-permissible cooperation. See IC 2-5-18.2-3, -4, and
-7.

109. Ordinance § 26.58(c) violates IC 2-5-18.2-3 and -4, as informed by -7.

110. Ordinance § 26.58(c) expressly sets out City of Gary policy and restricts Gary LEOs to
less than the full-extent-permissible cooperation mandated by Chapter 18.2 as follows (emphasis
added):

(c) The City recognizes the arrest of an individual increases that individual’s risk of
deportation even in cases where the individual is found to be not guilty, creating a dis-
proportionate impact from law enforcement operations. Therefore, for all individuals,
the Gary Police Department will recognize and consider the extreme potential negative
consequences of an arrest in exercising its discretion regarding whether to take such an
action and will arrest an individual only after determining that less severe alternatives
are unavailable or would be inadequate to effect a satisfactory resolution.

111. While Ordinance § 26.58 is titled “Commitments,” section 26.58(c) uses mandatory lan-
guage, “will,” and so directly requires (and indicates a policy requiring) that LEOs take into ac-
count the negative immigration-enforcement consequences of arresting illegal aliens where the
arrest otherwise would be proper under law.

112. Ordinance § 26-58(c), by expressly discouraging otherwise valid arrests for illegal activ-
ity to avoid immigration-law consequences violates the Full-Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation
Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-4, and the LEO-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-7, includ-
ing by barring activity that could lead to convictions that would make illegal aliens priorities for
removal, see supra [ 41, and the subject of cooperation requests from federal immigration-en-
forcement officials.

113. IC 5-2-18.2-6 requires that “[i]f a court finds that a governmental body ... knowingly or

intentionally violated section 3 or 4 of this chapter, the court shall enjoin the violation.”

114. By enacting Ordinance 9100, including Ordinance § 26-58(c), Gary Defendants acted
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knowingly and intentionally in violating the contrary provisions of IC 2-5-18.2-3 and -4, as in-
formed by § 7.
115. This Court should find that Gary Defendants knowingly and intentionally violated Indi-

ana’s Chapter 18.2 by enacting Ordinance § 26-58(c) and enjoin that provision of the Ordinance.

Count IV
Ordinance § 26.59 Violates Chapter 18.2.

116. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding para-
graphs..

117. As established in Count I, Indiana Chapter 18.2 preempts the immigration-law field by
barring any immigration-law ordinance, rule, or policy prohibiting or restricting both informa-
tion and enforcement to less than full-extent-permissible cooperation. See IC 2-5-18.2-3, -4, and
-7.

118. Ordinance § 26.59 violates IC 2-5-18.2-3 and -4, as informed by -7.

119. Ordinance § 26.59 purports to comply with 8 U.S.C. 1373 and 1644 as follows:

Section 26.59. Information regarding citizenship or immigration status.

Nothing in this chapter prohibits any municipal agency from sending to, or receiving
from, any local, state, federal agency, information regarding an individual’s citizen-
ship or immigration status. All municipal agents shall be instructed that federal law
does not allow any such prohibition. “Information regarding an individual’s citizen-
ship or immigration status,” for purposes of this section, means a statement of the indi-
vidual’s country of citizenship or a statement of the individual’s immigration status.

120. Ordinance § 26.59 employs an improper, narrow definition of the citizenship/immigra-
tion information that must be shared. It complies with neither the broad, all-matters-regarding
citizenship/immigration definition at Ordinance § 26-51 (used at § 26-52), nor the full-extent-

permissible cooperation required by Chapter 18.2, nor the proper broad, all-matters-regarding

understanding of what is required by 8 U.S.C 1373 and 1644, seeinfra 99 32-34.
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121. Ordinance § 26-59, by too narrowly defining what information City of Gary agencies
and agents may share, violates the Information-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-3, the Full-
Extent-Enforcement-Cooperation Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-4, and the LEO-Enforcement-Coopera-
tion Mandate, IC 5-2-18.2-7, by barring the sharing of information required by both federal law
and Chapter 18.2 to be shared.

122. IC 5-2-18.2-6 requires that “[i]f a court finds that a governmental body ... knowingly or
intentionally violated section 3 or 4 of this chapter, the court shall enjoin the violation.”

123. By enacting Ordinance 9100, including Ordinance § 26-59, Gary Defendants acted
knowingly and intentionally in violating the contrary provisions of IC 2-5-18.2-3 and -4, as in-
formed by § 7.

124. This Court should find that Gary Defendants knowingly and intentionally violated Indi-
ana’s Chapter 18.2 by enacting Ordinance § 26-59 and enjoin that provision of the Ordinance.

Prayer for Relief

Wherefore, Plaintiffs pray for the following relief regarding Gary Defendants’ enactment of
City of Gary Ordinance 9100:
1. Regarding Count I and Ordinance § 26-52:
a. a “find[ing] that a governmental body ... knowingly or intentionally violated section 3
or 4 of [IC 2-5-18.2]” in enacting this provision, IC 5-2-18.2-6; and
b. an order “enjoin[ing] the violation,” IC 5-2-18.2-6.
2. Regarding Count II and Ordinance § 26-55:
a. a “find[ing] that a governmental body ... knowingly or intentionally violated section 3
or 4 of [IC 2-5-18.2]” in enacting this provision, IC 5-2-18.2-6; and

b. an order “enjoin[ing] the violation,” IC 5-2-18.2-6.
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3. Regarding Count III and Ordinance § 26-58(c):
a. a “find[ing] that a governmental body ... knowingly or intentionally violated section 3
or 4 of [IC 2-5-18.2]” in enacting this provision, IC 5-2-18.2-6; and
b. an order “enjoin[ing] the violation,” IC 5-2-18.2-6.
4. Regarding Count IV and Ordinance § 26-59:
a. a “find[ing] that a governmental body ... knowingly or intentionally violated section 3
or 4 of [IC 2-5-18.2]” in enacting this provision, IC 5-2-18.2-6; and
b. an order “enjoin[ing] the violation,” IC 5-2-18.2-6.
5. Any other relief the Court finds proper, including under any provision awarding costs and
attorneys’ fees to Plaintiffs.

Respectfully submitted,

Countresgunnanlltbant

Dale Lee Wilcox, IN #19627-10 U

dwilcox@irli.org James Bopp, Jr., IN #2838-84

IRLI Exec. Dir. & General Counsel Jboppjr@aol.com

IMMIGRATION REFORM LAW INSTITUTE Richard E. Coleson, IN #11527-70

25 Massachusetts Ave, NW, Suite 335 rcoleson@bopplaw.com

Washington, DC 20001 Courtney Turner Milbank, IN #32178-29
202/232-5590 telephone cmilbank@bopplaw.com

1 South Sixth Street

Terre Haute, IN 47807-3510
812/232-2434 telephone
812/235-3685 facsimile
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Appendix A

City of Gary Ordinance 9100



COUNCIL PENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2017 -26
ORDINANCENO. 7 /QQ

AS AMENDED |
CERTIFICATION DATE
CERTIFIED BY
FAVORABLY
UNFAVORABLY

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE CITY OF
GARY INDIANA AS A WELCOMING CITY

WHEREAS, it is the purpose and intent of the City of Gary to recognize the present and historic
importance of immigrants to our community and to further demonstrate the City of Gary’s commitment to
ensure public safety for all city residents and specifically enable immigrants to report crimes; and

WHEREAS, it is the intent of the City of Gary to support immigration enforcement as a federal matter.
The City of Gary is committed to upholding the Constitution, including the 4th Amendment requirements
of probable cause for arrest and detention and the 10th amendment bar on commandeering of local

governments to perform federal functions; and

WHEREAS, it is the intent of the City of Gary and the, City of Gary Common Council to work with
community advocates, policy experts, and legal advocates to defend the human rights of immigrants and
assure that each person is treated equally regardless of their immigration status.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council that 2 new Article I, Section 26 Of the City
~ of Gary City Ordinances is added as follows: '

Section 26-51. Definitions.

For the purposes of this article, the words and phrases defined in the sections hereunder shall have the
meanings therein respectively ascribed to them unless a different meaning is clearly indicated by the
context: 3

“A dministrative warrant” means an immigration warrant of arrest, order to detain or release aliens, notice
of custody determination, notice to appear, removal order, warrant of removal, or any other document,
issued by ICE that can form the basis for an individual’s arrest or detention for a civil immigration
enforcement purpose. This definition does not include any criminal warrants issued upon a judicial
determination of probable cause and in compliance with the requirements of the Fourth Amendment to the
U.S. Constitution and the Indiana Constitution. '

“Agency”’ means every municipal department, agency, division, commission, council, committee, board,
other body, or person established by authority of an ordinance, executive order, or City Council order.

“Agent” means any person employed by or acting on behalf of an agency.




“Certification” means any law enforcement certification or statement required by federal immigration
law including, but not limited to, the information required by Section 1184(p) of Title 8 of the United
States Code (including current United States Citizenship and Tmmigration Service Form 1918,
Supplement B, or any successor forms) for purposes of obtaining a U visa, or by Section 1184(0) of Title
8 of the United States Code (including current United States Citizenship and Immigration Service Form I-
914, Supplement B, or any successor forms) for purposes of obtaining a T visa.

“Certifying agency’ means a municipal law enforcement agency or other authority that has responsibility
for the investigation or prosecution of criminal activity. "Certifying agency” includes any agency that has
criminal investigative jurisdiction in its respective areas of expertise.

“Citizenship or immigration status” MEans all matters regarding questions of citizenship of the United
States or any other country, the authority to reside in or otherwise be present in the United States, the time
and manner of a person’s entry into the United States, or any other immigration matter enforced by the
Department of Homeland Security or successor or other federal agency charged with the enforcement of
civil immigration laws.

“Coerce” means to use express or implied threats towards a person or any family member of a person that
attempts to put the person in immediate fear of the consequences in order to compel that person to act
against his or her will.

“Contact information” means home address, work address, telephone number, electronic mail address,
social media contact information, or any other means of contacting an individual.

“Eligible for release from custody” means that the person may be released from custody because one of
the following conditions has occurred: ;

(1) All criminal charges against the person have been dropped or dismissed.

(2) The person has been acquitted of all criminal charges filed against him or her.

(3) The person has served all the time required for his or her sentence.

4 The person has posted a bond.

(5) The person is otherwise eligible for release under state or local law, or local policy.

“Family member” means a person’s (i) mother, father, spouse, brother or sister (including blood, step or
half), son or daughter (including blood, step or half), father-in- law, mother-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-
in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent ot grandchild; or (ii) court-appointed legal guardian or a
person for whom the person is a court- appointed legal guardian; or (iif) domestic partner or the domestic
partner's mother, father, brother, sister (including blood, step, or half), son or daughter (including blood,
step or half).

“JCE” means the United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement Agency and shall include any
successor agency charged with the enforcement of civil immigration laws.

“Immigration detainer” means a request by ICE to a federal, state, or local law enforcement agency that
requests that the Jaw enforcement agency provide notice of release or maintain custody of an individual
based on an alleged violation of a civil immigration law, including detainers issued pursuant to Sections
1226 or 1357 of Title 8 of the United States Code or 2877 or 236.1 of Title 8 of the Code of Federal
Regulations.

“immigration enforcement operation” means any operation that has as one of its objectives the
identification or apprehension of a person or persons. 1) in order to subject them to civil immigration
detention, removal proceedings and removal from the United States; or 2) to criminally prosecute a person




‘or persons for offenses related to immigration status, including but not limited to violations of Sections
1253, 1304, 1306(a) and (b), 1325, or 1326 of Title 8 of the United States Code. ;

“Qualifying criminal activify” means any activity involving one or more of the following or any similar
activity in violation of Federal, State, or local criminal law: rape; torture; trafficking; incest; domestic
violence; sexual assault; abusive sexual contact; prostitution; sexual exploitation; female genital
mutilation; being held hostage; peonage; involuntary servitude; slave trade; kidnapping; abduction;
unlawful criminal restraint; false imprisonment; blackmail; extortion; manslaughter; murder; felonious
assault; witness tampering; obstruction of justice; perjury; fraud in foreign labor contracting (as defined in
Section 1351 of Title 18 of the United States Code); or attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation to commit any
of the above mentioned crimes. This list of qualifying criminal activity is not a list of specific statutory
violations, but instead a list of general categories of criminal activity. Activity not listed in the first
sentence of this definition shall be presumed to be qualifying criminal activity when there is an articulable
similarity to any qualifying criminal activity listed herein. Qualifying criminal activity that occurs during
the commission of non-qualifying criminal activity shall be considered qualifying criminal activity
regardless of whether criminal prosecution was sought for the qualifying criminal activity.

“Verbal abuse” means the use of a remark which is overtly insulting, mocking or belittling directed at a
person based upon the actual or perceived: (1) race, color, sex, religion, national origin, English
proficiency, sexual orientation, or gender identity of that person, or (2) citizenship or immigration status
of that person or that person’s family member. :

"“Victim of qualifying criminal activity” means any individual who has reported qualifying criminal
activity to a law enforcement agency or certifying agency, or has otherwise participated in the detection,
investigation, or prosecution of qualifying criminal activity, who has suffered direct or proximate harm as
a result of the commission of any qualifying criminal activity and may include, but is not limited to, an
indirect victim, regardless of the direct victim's immigration or citizenship status, including the spouse,
children under 21 years of age, and, if the direct victim is under 21 years of age, deceased, incompetent or
incapacitated, parents and unmarried siblings under 18 years of age of the direct victim. A bystander
victim may also be considered as a “victim of qualifying criminal activity”. More than one victim may be
identified and provided with certification depending upon the circumstances. A “victim of qualifying
criminal activity” may also include a victim of a severe form of trafficking in persons as defined
Section 7102 of Title 22 of the United States Code. For purposes of this definition, the term
“incapacitated” means unable to interact with law enforcement agency or certifying agency personnel as a
result of a cognitive impairment or other physical limitation, or because of physical restraint or
disappearance.

Secﬁon 26-52. Requesting information prohibited.

No agent or agency shall request information about or otherwise investigate or assist in the investigation
of the citizenship or immigration status of any person unless such inquiry or investigation is required by
an order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction. Notwithstanding this provision, the Corporation
Counsel may investigate and inquire about citizenship or immigration status when relevant to potential or
actual litigation or an administrative proceeding in which the City is or may be a party.

Section 26.53. Conditioning benefits, services, or opportunities on immigrant status prohibited.
(a) No agent or agency shall withhold any municipal benefits, services, or opportunities on

matters related to citizenship or immigration status unless required to do so by state or federal
law, or court order.




... . (b) Where presentation of any driver's license, including an international driver’s license, - or
identification card is accepted as adequate evidence of identity, presentation of a photo identity
document issued by the person's nation of origin, such as a driver's license, passport, or consular
identification document, shall be accepted and shall not subject the person to a higher level of
scrutiny or different treatment than if that person had provided a Indiana driver’s license or
identification card except that this subsection (b) shall not apply to the completion of the federally
mandated I-9 forms.

(c ) In order to ensure that eligible persons are not deterred from seeking municipal benefits,
services, or opportunities, all agencies shall review their confidentiality policies and identify any
changes necessary to ensure that information collected from individuals is limited to that
necessary to perform agency duties and is not used or disclosed for any other purpose. Any
necessary changes to those policies shall be made as expeditiously, as possible, consistent with
agency procedures. :

(d) All applications, questionnéires, and interview forms used in relation to municipal benefits,
opportunities, or services shall be promptly reviewed by the pertinent agencies and any questions
. regarding citizenship or immigration status, other than those required by statute, ordinance,
federal law or court order, shall be deleted within 60 days of the passage of this ordinance.
Section 26-54. Threats based on citizehship or immigraﬁdi; status prohibited.
No agent or agency shall do any of the following:
(a) coerce any person based upon the person’s actual or perceived citizenship or immigration
status or the actual or perceived citizenship or immigration status of the person’s family

member; or

_ (b) communicate a threat to deport that person or any family member of that person under
circumstances that reasonably tend to produce a fear that the threat will be carried out; or

(¢ ) otherwise subject a person to verbal abuse as defined by this chapter.
Section 26-55. Immigration enforcement actions — Federal responsibility.

No agency or agent shall stop, arrest, detain, or continue to detain a person after that person

becomes eligible for release from custody or is free to leave an encounter with an agent or

agency, based on any of the following:

() an immigration detainer;

(b) an administrative warrant (including but not limited to entered into the Federal Bureau of
Investigation's National Crime Information Center database); or

(c) any other basis that is based solely on the belief that the person is not present legally in
the United States, or that the person has committed a civil immigration violation.

(d) No agency or agent shall be permitted to accept requests by ICE or other agencies to

support or assist in any capacity with immigration enforcement operations, including but
not limited to requests to provide information on persons who may be the subject of




()

®

. immigration enforcement operations (except as may be required under section 11 of this

ordinance), to establish traffic perimeters, or to otherwise be present to assist or support
an operation. In the event an agent receives a request to support or assist in an
immigration enforcement operation, he or she shall report the request to his or her
supervisor, who shall decline the request and document the declination in an interoffice
memorandum to the agency director through the chain of command.

No agency or agent shall enter into an agreement under Section 1357(g) of Title 8 of the
United States Code or any other federal law that permits state or local governmental
entities to enforce federal civil immigration laws.

Unless presented with a valid and properly issued criminal warrant, no agency or agent
shall:

(1) permit ICE agents access to a person being detained by, or in the custody of,
the agency or agent;

(2) transfer any person into ICE custody;

(3) permit ICE agents use of agency facilities, information (except as may be
required under section 11 of this ordinance), or equipment, including any agency
electronic databases, for investigative interviews or other investigative purpose or
for purposes of executing an immigration enforcement operation; or

(4) expend the time of the agency or agent in responding to ICE inquiries or
communicating with ICE regarding a person's custody status, release date, or
contact information.

Section 26.56. Certifications for victims of certain eriminal activity.

(a) A certifying agency shall execute any certification requested by any victim of
qualifying criminal activity or representative of the victim including, but not limited to,
the victim’s attorney, accredited representative, or domestic violence service provider,
within 90 days of receiving the request. If the victim seeking certification is in federal
immigration removal proceedings, the certifying agency shall execute the certification no
later than 14 days after the request is received by the agency. If the victim or the victim's
children would lose any benefits under Sections 1184(p) and 1184(o) of Title 8 of the
United States Code by virtue of having reached the age of 21 years within 90 days after
the certifying agency receives the certification request, the certifying agency shall
execute the certification no later than 14 days before the date on which the victim or child
would reach the age of 21 years. Requests for expedited certification must be
affirmatively raised by the victim.

(b) If a certifying agency fails to certify within the time limit prescribed in subsection (a)
of this Section, or a victim of qualifying criminal activity disputes the content of a
certification, then the victim of qualifying criminal activity may bring an action in circuit
court to seek certification or amend the certification. The court shall award court costs
and reasonable attorneys’ fees to any person who brings a proceeding brought pursuant to
this subsection who prevails.




(¢) The head of each certifying agency shall perform, or designate an agent, who -
performs a supervisory role within the agency, to perform the following responsibilities:

(1) respond to requests for certifications;

(2) provide outreach to victims of qualifying criminal activity to inform them of
the agency’s certification process; and

(3) keep written records of all certification requests and responses.

(d) All certifying agencies shall implement a language access protocol for non-English
speaking victims of qualifying criminal activity.

(e) A certifying agency shall reissue any certification within 90 days of receiving a
request from the victim of qualifying criminal activity or representative of the victim
including, but not limited to, the victim’s attorney, accredited representative, or domestic
violence service provider.

(f) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, a certifying agency’s completion
of a certification shall not be considered conclusory evidence that the victim has met
eligibility requirements for a U or T visa and completion of a certification by a certifying
agency shall not be construed to guarantee that a victim will receive federal immigration
relief. It is the exclusive responsibility of federal immigration officials to determine
whether a victim of qualifying criminal activity is eligible for a U or T visa. Completion
of a certification by a certifying agency merely verifies factual information relevant to the
immigration benefit sought including information relevant for federal immigration
officials to determine eligibility for a U or T visa. By completing a certification, the
certifying agency attests that the information is true and correct to the best of the
certifying official’s knowledge. If after completion of a certification, the victim
unreasonably refuses to assist in the investigation or prosecution of the qualifying
criminal activity of which he or she is a victim, then the certifying agency may notify the
United States Citizenship and Immigration Service in writing.

Section 26-57. Federal registry programs

No agency or agent shall expend any time, facilities, equipment, information, or other resources
of the agency or agent to facilitate the creation, publication, or maintenance of any federal
program to register individuals present in the United States based on their race, color, ancestry,
national origin, or religion, or the participation of any residents of the municipality in such a

registry.
Section 26.58. Commitments.,

" (a) The City commits to working with community advocates, policy experts, and legal
advocates to defend the human rights of immigrants.

(b) The Gary Police Department will continue to respond to requests from immigrant

communities to defend them against all crimes, including hate crimes, to assist people
with limited language proficiency and to connect immigrants with social services.

(c) The City recognizes the arrest of an individual increases that individual’s risk of




deportation even in cases where the individual is found to be not guilty, creating a
disproportionate impact from law enforcement operations. Therefore, for all

individuals, the Gary Police Department will recognize and consider the extreme
potential negative consequences of an arrest in exercising its discretion regarding whether
to take such an action and will arrest an individual only after determining that less severe -
alternatives are unavailable or would be inadequate to effect a satisfactory resolution.

(d) The Gary Police Department will make available and provide material at all Gary Police
Stations concerning this ordinance and information concerning rights of all immigrants.

Section 26.59. Information regarding citizenship or immigration status.

Nothing in this chapter prohibits any municipal agency from sending to, or receiving
from, any local, state, federal agency, information regarding an individual’s citizenship or
jmumigration status. All municipal agents shall be instructed that federal law does not
allow any such prohibition. “Information regarding an individual’s citizenship or
immigration status,” for purposes of this section, means a statement of the individual’s
country of citizenship or a statement of the individual’s immigration status.

Section 26.60. Severability.
If any provision, clause, section, part, or application of this chapter to any person or
circumstance is declared invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity
shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder hereof or its application to any other
person or circumstance. It is hereby declared that the legislative intent of the City Council
that this chapter should have been adopted had such invalid provision, clause, section,
part , or application not been included herein.

Section 26.61. Effect upon passage.

This ordinance shall take full force and effect upon its passage and approval.
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Verification

1, Jeff Nicholson, declare as follows:

1. I am a Plaintiff in the present case.
2. I am over 18 years of age.
3. I have personal knowledge of the facts about myself, as set out in the foregoing

Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief , and if called upon to testify I would competently testify

as to the matters stated herein.

4. I verify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America
that the factual statements in this Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief concerning me are true

and correct. Ind. Trial Rules 11(B)-(C).

Executedon [ ,‘/ 2 5’/ 177




Verification

I, Douglas Grimes, declare as follows:

1. I am a Plaintiff in the present case.
2. I am over 18 years of age.
3, I have personal knowledge of the facts about myself, as set out in the foregoing

Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief , and if called upon to testify I would competently testify

as to the matters stated herein.

4. I verify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America
that the factual statements in this Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief concerning me are true

and correct. Ind. Trial Rules 11(B)-(C).

Executed on //, / 27// Zo/ 7

gouglas Grimes y



Verification

I, Greg Serbon, declare as follows:

¥ I am a Plaintiff in the present case.
2. I am over 18 years of age.
3. I bave personal knowledge of the facts about myself, as set out in the foregoing

Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief , and if called upon to testify I would competently testify

as to the matters stated herein.

4. 1 verify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America
that the factual statements in this Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief concerning me are true
and correct. Ind. Trial Rules 11(B)~(C).

A The copy of City of Gary Ordinance 9100 attached to the Verified Complaint for
Injunctive Relief as Appendix A is a true and correct copy of Ordinance 9100 that I personally

requested and obtained from the office of the City of Gary Clerk.

Executed on i ! iiif; 1]17

Dyse N frem

Greg Serbon / |
Ljf




Verification

I, Cheree Calabro, declare as follows:

L I am a Plaintiff in the present case.
2. I am over 18 years of age.
3. I have personal knowledge of the facts about myself, as set out in the foregoing

Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief , and if called upon to testify I would competently testify

as to the matters stated herein.

4. I verify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America
that the factual statements in this Verified Complaint for Injunctive Relief concerning me are true

and correct. Ind. Trial Rules 11(B)-(C).

Executed on / / -F-/ 7

(hocre (%540

Cheree Calabro




